http://www.oblible.com

7\
(absa)
./

ABSA BANK LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa with limited liability under registration number
1986/004794/06)

ZAR40,000,000,000

Master Structured Note Programme

This Master Structured Note Programme is a twin programme to the ZAR40,000,000,000 Master
Programme Memorandum dated 7 November 2018 of ABSA Bank Limited admitted on the
Johannesburg Stock Exchange (the “JSE Master Structured Note Programme”). This
ZAR40,000,000,000 Master Programme Memorandum is separate from, and does not amend,
restate, replace or supersede the JSE Master Structured Note Programme and does not affect any
notes issued under the JSE Master Structured Note Programme.

Absa Bank Limited (the “Issuer”) may from time to time issue unsecured or secured registered or
bearer notes (the “Notes”) in accordance with Section I-D of this Master Programme Memorandum
(as defined below) headed “Form of the Notes” and Section Il of this Master Programme Memorandum
headed “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” (the “Terms and Conditions”). Capitalised terms used
in this Master Programme Memorandum are defined in Schedule 1 to Section Il of this Master
Programme Memorandum (the “Glossary of Terms”), unless such meaning is amended by an
Applicable Product Supplement or an Applicable Pricing Supplement in relation to a particular Series
or Tranche of Notes or unless the context otherwise requires. Expressions defined in the Glossary of
Terms shall bear the same meanings in supplements to this Master Programme Memorandum unless
otherwise defined in such supplements.

This Master Programme Memorandum will apply to the Notes issued under the Master Structured
Note Programme in an aggregate outstanding Nominal Amount which will not exceed the authorised
amount of ZAR40,000,000,000, unless such amount is increased by the Issuer as set out in Section
I-B of this Master Programme Memorandum headed “General Description of the Master Structured
Note Programme”.

Notes will be issued in individual Tranches. Tranches may, together with other Tranches, form a
Series of Notes. A Tranche or Series of Notes will be issued on, and subject to, the Terms and
Conditions, as replaced, amended and/or supplemented by the terms and conditions of that Tranche
or Series of Notes set out in the Applicable Product Supplement and/or Applicable Pricing
Supplement. Any other type of Notes not already provided for in this Master Programme
Memorandum may be issued on, and subject to, the Terms and Conditions, as replaced, amended
and/or supplemented by the terms and conditions of that Tranche or Series of other Notes set out in
the Applicable Product Supplement and/or the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

This Master Programme Memorandum has been approved by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the
“Lux SE”) for approval of this Master Programme Memorandum in connection with the admission to
the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and to trading on the Luxembourg Stock
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Exchange’s Euro MTF (the “Euro MTF”) of Notes issued by the Issuer on the Official List of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s Euro MTF. The Euro MTF is not a regulated market for the purposes
of Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial
instruments. This Master Programme Memorandum is being produced solely for the purposes of such
approval and listing. This Master Programme Memorandum constitutes a prospectus for purposes of
Part IV of the Luxembourg law on prospectuses for securities dated 16 July 2019.

The settlement and redemption procedures for a Tranche of Notes listed on any Financial Exchange
(other than or in addition to the Lux SE) will be specified in the Applicable Product Supplement and/or
the Applicable Pricing Supplement. See otherwise Section IV-B “Settlement, Clearing and Transfer
of Notes”. The Issuer is solely responsible for settlement of all Notes, and neither the Lux SE nor any
other exchange bears any responsibility whatsoever.

Save as set out herein, the Notes will not be subject to any minimum or maximum maturity.

Notes may be issued on a continuing basis and be placed by one or more of the Dealers specified in
the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and any additional Dealer appointed under the Master
Structured Note Programme from time to time by the Issuer, which appointment may be for a specific
issue or on an on-going basis. References in this Master Programme Memorandum to the “relevant
Dealer” shall, in the case of Notes being (or intended to be) placed by more than one Dealer, be to all
Dealers agreeing to place such Notes.

The attention of investors contemplating investing in the Notes is drawn to Section I-E of this
Master Programme Memorandum headed “Risk Factors” and the “Risk Factors” section in
each Applicable Product Supplement for a discussion of certain factors that should be
carefully considered by prospective investors in connection with an investment in the Notes.

This Master Structured Note Programme has, as at the date of this Master Programme Memorandum,
not been rated; however, the Issuer may at any time obtain a Rating from a Rating Agency for the
Master Structured Note Programme or any issue of Notes issued pursuant to the terms of this Master
Structured Note Programme. The Applicable Pricing Supplement will reflect the Rating, if any, which
has been assigned to the Master Structured Note Programme and/or a Tranche of Notes, as the case
may be, as well as the Rating Agency which assigned such Rating.

The Issuer may agree with any Dealer that Notes may be issued in a form not yet provided for by the
Terms and Conditions of the Notes herein, in which event a supplementary Master Programme
Memorandum, if appropriate, will be made available, which will describe the effect of the agreement
reached in relation to such Notes.

A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision,
suspension or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organisation. Each of Moody’s Investors
Service Ltd., Fitch Ratings Limited and Standard & Poor’s Credit Market Services Europe Limited are
established in the European Union (the “EU”), domiciled in the United Kingdom, and are included in
the list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance with Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 on
Credit Rating Agencies as amended by Regulation (EU) No. 513/2011 (the “CRA Regulation”). This
list is available on the ESMA website (http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/list-reqistered-and-certified-
CRAs).

Arranger & Dealer

Absa Bank Limited

Master Programme Memorandum

dated 30 October 2019
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IMPORTANT NOTICES

Capitalised terms used in this section headed “Important Notices” shall bear the same meanings as
those used in the Glossary of Terms, except to the extent that such meanings would be clearly

inappropriate from the context.

The Issuer certifies the information contained in this Master Programme Memorandum is, to the best
of its knowledge and belief in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its

import.

The Issuer accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Master
Programme Memorandum, Applicable Product Supplements, Applicable Pricing Supplements and the
annual financial report (incorporated herein by reference), any amendments to the annual financial
report and/or any supplements thereto from time to time, except as otherwise stated therein. Where
information has been sourced from a third party, the Issuer confirms that this information has been
accurately reproduced and that no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced

information inaccurate or misleading.

The Issuer, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirms that this Master Programme
Memorandum contains or incorporates all information which is material in the context of the issue and
the offering of Notes, that the information contained or incorporated in this Master Programme
Memorandum is true and accurate in all material respects and is not misleading, that the opinions and
the intentions expressed in this Master Programme Memorandum are honestly held and that there
are no other facts, the omission of which would make this Master Programme Memorandum or any
of such information or expression of any such opinions or intentions false or misleading in any material

respect.

This document is to be read and construed with any amendment or supplement thereto (this
document, as amended, replaced or supplemented, the “Master Programme Memorandum”), and
in conjunction with any other documents which are deemed to be incorporated herein by reference
(see Section I-A of this Master Programme Memorandum headed “Documents Incorporated by
Reference”) and, in relation to any Tranche of Notes, should be read and construed together with the
Applicable Product Supplement and/or the Applicable Pricing Supplement. This Master Programme
Memorandum shall be read and construed on the basis that such documents are incorporated into

and are deemed to form part of this Master Programme Memorandum.

None of the Arranger, the Dealers, the Lux SE nor any of their respective affiliates and/or other
professional advisers named herein have separately verified the information contained herein.

Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no
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responsibility is accepted by the Arranger, the Dealers, the Lux SE or any of their respective affiliates
and/or other professional advisers as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained
in this Master Programme Memorandum or any other information provided by the Issuer. None of the
Arranger, the Dealers, the Lux SE nor any of their respective affiliates and/or other professional
advisers accept any liability in relation to the information contained in this Master Programme
Memorandum or any other information provided by the Issuer in connection with the Master Structured

Note Programme.

No person has been authorised by the Issuer to give any information or to make any representation
not contained in or not consistent with this Master Programme Memorandum or any other document
entered into in relation to the Master Structured Note Programme or any other information supplied
by the Issuer in connection with the Master Structured Note Programme or any other documents
which are deemed to be incorporated herein by reference and, if given or made, such information or
representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer, the Arranger, the

Dealers, the Lux SE, nor any of their agents or employees or other professional advisers.

Neither this Master Programme Memorandum nor any other information supplied in connection with
the Master Structured Note Programme is intended to provide a basis for any credit or other
evaluation, or should be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer, the Arranger or any of the
Dealers that any recipient of this Master Programme Memorandum or any other information supplied
in connection with the Master Structured Note Programme should subscribe for, or purchase, any

Notes.

Each person contemplating the subscription for, or purchase of, any Notes should determine for itself
the relevance of the information contained in this Master Programme Memorandum and should make
its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the
creditworthiness, of the Issuer and its subscription for, or purchase of, Notes should be based upon
any such investigation as it deems necessary. None of this Master Programme Memorandum, any
Applicable Product Supplement, the Applicable Pricing Supplement nor any other information
supplied in connection with the Master Structured Note Programme constitutes an offer to sell or the
solicitation of an offer to buy or invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Arranger, or any of the

Dealers to any person to subscribe for or to purchase any Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Master Programme Memorandum, any Applicable Product Supplement or
any Applicable Pricing Supplement, nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Note shall at any time
imply that the information contained herein is correct at any time subsequent to the date hereof or
that any other financial statements or other information supplied in connection with the Master
Structured Note Programme is correct as at any time subsequent to the date indicated in the

document containing the same. The Arranger and the Dealers expressly do not undertake to review
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the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the Master Structured Note Programme.
Investors should review, inter alia, the most recent financial statements, if any, of the Issuer when

deciding whether or not to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes.

This Master Structured Note Programme does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation
of an offer to buy any Notes in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make

the offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction.

The distribution of this Master Structured Note Programme and the offer or sale of Notes may
be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Persons into whose possession this Programme
Memorandum or any Notes come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such
restrictions. In particular, there are restrictions on the distribution of this Master Structured
Note Programme and the offer or sale of Notes in the United States of America (also referred
to in this Programme Memorandum as the “United States”), the United Kingdom, the Republic
of South Africa (also referred to in this Programme Memorandum as “South Africa”) and
certain other jurisdictions (see Section IV-C headed “Subscription and Sale”). None of the
Issuer, the Arranger or the Dealers represents that this Master Structured Note Programme
may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any
applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an
exemption available there under, nor does it assume any responsibility for facilitating any
such distribution or offering. In particular, no action has been taken by the Issuer, the
Arranger or the Dealers which would permit a public offering of any Notes or distribution of
this document in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no
Notes may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Master Structured Note
Programme nor any advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or published
in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any

applicable law and regulations.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act.
Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to U.S. persons except

in accordance with Regulation S under the United States Securities Act.

This Programme Memorandum has been prepared on the basis that any offer of Notes in any
Member State of the European Economic Area (the "EEA") (each, a "Relevant Member State")
will be made pursuant to an exemption under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the “Prospectus
Regulation”), as implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish
a prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly, any person making or intending to make an
offer in that Relevant Member State of Notes which are the subject of an offering contemplated

in this Programme Memorandum as completed by an Applicable Pricing Supplement in
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relation to the offer of those Notes may only do so in circumstances in which no obligation
arises for the Issuer or the Dealers to publish or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article
3 of the Prospectus Regulation in relation to such offer. The Issuer and Dealer has not
authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in circumstances in which
an obligation arises for the Issuer to publish a prospectus in the EEA or in any other

jurisdiction.

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not
be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the EEA. For these
purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of (i) a retail client as defined
in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as may be amended or replaced from time
to time, "MiFID II"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the "Insurance
Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as
defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MIFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in
Prospectus Regulation. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation
(EU) No 1286/2014 (as may be amended or replaced from time to time, the "PRIIPs Regulation™)
for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the
EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them

available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

In connection with the issue and distribution of any Notes under the Master Structured Note
Programme, the Dealer, if any, that is specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement as the
stabilising manager (or any person acting for the stabilising manager) may, if specified in that
Applicable Pricing Supplement and only if such stabilising is permitted by the applicable laws
and agreed with the Lux SE, over-allot or effect transactions with a view to supporting the
market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail for a limited
period. However, there may be no obligation on the stabilising manager (or any agent of the
stabilising manager) to do this. Such stabilising, if commenced, may be discontinued at any
time and must be brought to an end after a limited period. Such stabilising shall be in

compliance with all applicable laws, regulations and rules.

The pricelyield, amount and allocation of Notes to be issued under this Master Structured Note
Programme will be determined by the Issuer at the time of issue, in accordance with the prevailing

market conditions.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this Master Structured Note Programme, including the documents incorporated

by reference herein, are forward-looking statements. These statements can be identified by the fact
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that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. Forward-looking statements often use
words such as “anticipate”, “target”, “expect’, “estimate”, “intend”, “plan”, “goal”, “believe”, or other
words of similar meaning. Forward-looking statements provide the Issuer’s current expectations or
forecasts of future events, circumstances, results or aspirations. In addition, the Issuer’s senior
management may make forward-looking statements orally to analysts, investors, representatives of

the media and others.

All forward-looking statements are, by their nature, subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which
are beyond the Issuer’s control. The Issuer’s actual future results may differ materially from those set

forth in its forward-looking statements.

Any forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of the Issuer speak only as of the date they are
made and the Issuer does not undertake to update forward-looking statements to reflect the impact

of circumstances or events that arise after the date the forward-looking statements were made.

EMEA 120997881



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Clause number and description Page
SECTION I-A: DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE .........oooooiiiiiiiiiieeeeecee 11
1. 9T Yo7 1= | £ 11
2. T .0 =14 o I 12
SECTION I-B : GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE MASTER STRUCTURED NOTE

PROGRAMME ..ottt ettt e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e nnnnneeeeeeeeeaann 16
SECTION I-C : SUMMARY OF THE MASTER STRUCTURED NOTE PROGRAMME .................. 18
SECTION I-D : FORM OF THE NOTES ... .ottt e e e e e e e 27
SECTION I-E : RISK FACTORS ...ttt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e nnnnenes 32
RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUER OR ITS BUSINESS.........ccvviiiiieeeieeeee e 34
RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUER’S INDUSTRY ....ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeee et 34
FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT THE ISSUER’S ABILITY TO FULFIL ITS OBLIGATIONS
UNDER NOTES ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME...........cccoiiiiiieeeeeeeeee e 34
4. THE NOTES MAY NOT BE A SUITABLE INVESTMENT FOR ALL INVESTORS............... 47
5. THERE IS NO ACTIVE TRADING MARKET FOR THE NOTES........cccoiiiieeeeeeeeeeee 47
6. A WIDE RANGE OF NOTES MAY BE ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME .................... 48
7. RISKS RELATED TO NOTES GENERALLY ... 50
8. FINANCIAL MARKETS ... ..ttt ettt e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e s e e eeaaeeeeennnnnnnees 55
9. RISKS RELATING TO SOUTH AFRICA.....cooeieeeeeee ettt 56
10. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST INVOLVING ABSA BANK LIMITED .......ccovviiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeee 57
SECTION I-F : PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION........ ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT
DEFINED.
SECTION Il : TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES........ccoiiiiiiiiieeee e 59
1. INTERPRETATION ..ottt e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e s s eeeaeeeeeennnnnneees 59
2. 1S U OO PEPRTRRRSPPP 59
3. FORM AND DENOMINATION ....oiiiiiiiiiiitieiee ettt e e e et e e e e e e e s e aeaaeeeeennnnsnees 60
4. LI PRSPPI 61
5. STATUS OF NOTES ...ttt e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e nnnreneeeeaeeeaanns 62
6. IN T E R E ST ..ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e b aaeeeeeee e e e e aaaraaraeaaee e e e nnrranes 62
7. P AYMEN TS L.ttt e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e et ae e e e e e e e e e e e nn—aeraaaaeeaeaannnrnees 76
8. REDEMPTION AND PURGCHASE....... .ottt e e e e e e e 85
9. TAXATION L.t e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e aasaaeeeeeeeeeaaannsssanneaaeens 9
10. REGISTER ... .ttt e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e eaasbaaeeeeeeeeeaasssssaeeaaaeeeeennsnnnnes 94
11. TRANSFER OF NOTES ...ttt e et e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e nnnnneeeeeaeens 95

EMEA 120997881



12. PRESCRIPTION ... 96
13. EVENTS OF DEFAULT ...t 97
14. CALCULATION AGENT, TRANSFER AGENT/REGISTRAR AND PAYING AGENT .......... 99
15. NOTICES .. ettt e e et e e s e e e e e e e e e s e nneeeeea 99
16. AMENDMENT OF THESE CONDITIONS ... 100
17. MEETINGS OF NOTEHOLDERS ........ooi e 102
18. FURTHER ISSUES ... et a e 103
19. GOVERNING LAW et 104
20. JURISDICTION ... et e e s e e e nenee e 104
SCHEDULE 1 : GLOSSARY OF TERMS ... ..ottt 105
SCHEDULE 2 : PRO FORMA APPLICABLE PRICING SUPPLEMENT ... 141
SECTION Il : APPLICABLE PRODUCT SUPPLEMENTS ..o 162
SECTION I1I-A: 2014 CREDIT LINKED NOTES........oiiiiiiieiiieee et 162
1. INTRODUGCTION. ... e 164
2. RISK FACTORS RELATING TO 2014 CREDIT LINKED NOTES........ccoiiiiiiiiiiieees 164
3. TYPES OF 2014 CREDIT LINKED NOTES........oooii e 179
4. CREDIT EVENT DETERMINATIONS AND CONSEQUENCES ... 179
5. REDEMPTION OF CASH SETTLED CLNS ... 182
6. REDEMPTION OF PHYSICALLY DELIVERED CLNS......coccuiiiiiiiiieeiiee e 183
7. REDEMPTION FAILURE EVENT ... e 191
8. CALCULATION AGENT ... e e 193
9. NOTICES ..ttt e et e e e e e e e e e s eeae e e s 195
10. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS IN RESPECT OF A SUCCESSOR ........ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiees 198
11. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS RELATING TO DELIVERABLE OBLIGATIONS ................... 215
12. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS FOR COCO CLN.....oiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie et 241
13. REPRESENTATIONS ... a e 242
14. ADDITIONAL DISRUPTION EVENTS ... 246
15. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS APPLICABLE TO 2014 CREDIT LINKED

N O T E S e e e e 247
16. REFERENCE ENTITIES AND OBLIGATIONS ... 262
17. METHOD FOR DETERMINING OBLIGATIONS AND DELIVERABLE OBLIGATIONS..... 266
18. CREDIT EVENTS ...ttt e e e ee s 278
19. GENERAL TERMS RELATING TO REDEMPTION AND SETTLEMENT ..........ccccooeiieen. 288
20. TERMS RELATING TO CASH SETTLEMENT ..o 290
21. TERMS RELATING TO AUCTION SETTLEMENT .....ooiiiiiiiiiieee e 296
22. TERMS RELATING TO PHYSICAL SETTLEMENT AND DELIVERY .....coocoiiiiiiiiiii 299
23. TERMS RELATING TO CURRENCIES ... 306

EMEA 120997881



SECTION I1I-B : PRO FORMA APPLICABLE PRICING SUPPLEMENT — CREDIT LINKED

NOTES .o e e e e e e 309
SECTION IV 1 GENERAL ... 334
SECTION IV-A: USE OF PROCEEDS ... 334
SECTION IV-B : SETTLEMENT, CLEARING AND TRANSFER OF NOTES .......ccccooiiiiiiieen. 335
SECTION IV-C : SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE ... 338
SECTION V : DESCRIPTION OF ABSA BANK LIMITED ...coooiiiiiiiiee e 343
1. INTRODUGCTION. ... s a e 343
2. BACKGROUND AND HISTORY ... 344
3. LEGAL STATUS ...ttt ettt e e e e e e anrne e s 346
4. NATURE OF BUSINESS ... 347
5. OWNERSHIP AND CONTROL ......oiiiiiiiiie e 350
6. CORPORATE GOVERNANCGE ..ottt 350
7. OTHER CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS ... .o 385
8. RIS K S e 396
9. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCGE ...t 409
SECTION VI : SOUTH AFRICAN TAXATION ... 410
SECTION VIl : SOUTH AFRICAN EXCHANGE CONTROL ........oooiiiiiiiiiieee e 414
SECTION VIII : GENERAL INFORMATION ..o 416

EMEA 120997881



11

SECTION I-A: DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Capitalised terms used in this Section I-A headed “Documents Incorporated by Reference” shall bear
the same meanings as used in the Glossary of Terms, except to the extent that such meanings would

be clearly inappropriate from the context.
1. Documents

The following documents shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Master

Programme Memorandum:
(a) the constitutional documents of the Issuer;

(b) all amendments and supplements to this Master Programme Memorandum circulated by the

Issuer from time to time;

(c) the audited consolidated annual financial statements (including, where applicable, the
consolidated interim financial statements), together with such statements, reports and the
notes attached to or intended to be read with such financial statements of the Issuer for its 3
(three) financial years prior to the date of such issue, as well as for each financial year

thereafter ending on the last day of each financial year, currently 31 December;
(d) each annual report prepared by the Issuer from time to time;

(e) each Applicable Product Supplement relating to any type, Series or Tranche of Notes issued

under the Master Structured Note Programme;

(f) each Applicable Pricing Supplement relating to any Tranche of Notes issued under the Master

Structured Note Programme;

(9) the applicable ground rules documents relating to any Index Linked Notes (if applicable) under

the Master Structured Note Programme; and

(h) all information pertaining to the Issuer which is relevant to the Master Structured Note
Programme and/or this Master Programme Memorandum which is submitted after the

Programme Date to the Lux SE,

save that any statement contained in this Master Programme Memorandum or in any of the
documents incorporated by reference in and forming part of this Master Programme Memorandum
shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Master Programme

Memorandum to the extent that a statement contained in any document subsequently incorporated
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by reference modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or

otherwise).
2. Information

The table below sets out the relevant page references for the information incorporated into this Master
Programme Memorandum by reference. The documents, or copies thereof, will be available, during
normal business hours on any working day in Luxembourg, free of charge, at the office of the Paying

Agent in Luxembourg.

Information incorporated by reference Page reference
From the Absa Bank Limited Interim Financial Results for the reporting period to 30 June 2019

Interim financial results

Normalised Group performance overview 6
Normalised salient features 1
Normalised salient features by segment 12
Profit Commentary 13
Basis of presentation 18
Dividend announcement 19
Consolidated normalised statement of comprehensive income 20
Consolidated normalised statement of financial position 22
Consolidated normalised statement of changes in equity 24
Consolidated normalised statement of cash flows 30
Performance indicators and condensed normalised notes to the 31

consolidated financial statements

Information incorporated by reference Page reference

From the Absa Bank Limited Annual Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements for the
reporting period 31 December 2018

Annual financial statements
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Directors’ approval 1
Group Audit and Compliance Committee (GACC) report 2
Directors’ report 8
Company Secretary’s certificate to the shareholders of Absa Bank Limited 12
Independent auditors’ report to the shareholders of Absa Bank Limited 13
Consolidated statement of financial position 19
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 20
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 23
Consolidated statement of cash flows 27
Accounting policies 28
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 66
Company statement of financial position 193
Company statement of comprehensive income 194
Company statement of changes in equity 197
Company statement of cash flows 201
Notes to the Company financial statements 202

From the Absa Bank Limited Annual Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements for the

reporting period ended 31 December 2017

Annual financial statements

Normalised Group Performance

Director’s approval 1
Group Audit and Compliance Committee report 2
Company Secretary’s certificate to the 6

shareholders of Absa Bank Limited
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Independent auditors’ report to the 6

shareholders of Absa Bank Limited

Director’s report 12
Consolidated statement of financial position 16
Consolidated statement of comprehensive 17
income

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 20
Consolidated statement of cash flows 24
Accounting policies 25
Notes on the consolidated financial statements 50
Company statement of financial position 169
Company statement of comprehensive income 170
Company statement of changes in equity 172
Company statement of cash flows 174
Notes to the Company financial statements 175

The Issuer is also consolidated in Absa Group Limited financial statements available on the Issuer’s

website (https://www.absa.africa/absaafrica/investor-relations/financial-results/).

Investors who have not previously reviewed the information contained in the above documents should
do so in connection with their evaluation of any Notes. Any statement contained in a document, all
or the relevant portion of which is incorporated by reference into this Master Programme
Memorandum, shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Master
Programme Memorandum to the extent that a statement contained in this Master Programme
Memorandum or in any supplement to this Master Programme Memorandum, including any
documents incorporated therein by reference, modifies or supersedes such earlier statement

(whether expressly, by implication or otherwise).

Upon request, the Issuer will provide a copy of any of the public documents deemed to be incorporated

herein by reference, unless such documents have been modified or superseded. Requests for such
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documents should be directed to the Issuer at its Specified Office. A copy of this Master Programme
Memorandum and any supplementary documents published since the date of this Master Programme
Memorandum are available on the Issuer’'s website (www.absa.co.za). The Issuer’s annual report,
the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer and this Master Programme
Memorandum (and any supplementary documents thereto, including the Applicable Product
Supplements, Applicable Pricing Supplements, ground rules documents or index license agreements)

are also available on the Issuer’s website (www.absa.co.za).

This Master Programme Memorandum, any supplements and/or amendments thereto and the
Applicable Pricing Supplements relating to any issue of Notes admitted and traded on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s Euro MTF will be available on the Issuer’s website (www.absa.co.za)
and published on and available electronically on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s website

(www.bourse.lu) during the life of this Master Programme Memorandum.
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SECTION I-B: GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE MASTER STRUCTURED NOTE
PROGRAMME

Capitalised terms used in this Section I-B headed “General Description of the Master Structured Note
Programme” shall bear the same meanings as used in the Glossary of Terms, except to the extent

that such meanings would be clearly inappropriate from the context.

The Issuer may from time to time issue one or more Tranches of Notes under the Master Structured
Note Programme, pursuant to this Master Programme Memorandum, provided that the aggregate
outstanding Nominal Amount of all of the Notes issued under the Master Structured Note Programme

from time to time does not exceed the Programme Amount.

A Tranche of Listed Notes may be listed on the Euro MTF or such other or additional Financial
Exchange(s) as may be determined by the Issuer, subject to applicable laws. Unlisted Notes may
also be issued under the Master Structured Note Programme but will not be regulated by the Lux SE.
The Applicable Product Supplement and/or the Applicable Pricing Supplement will specify whether or

not a Tranche of Notes will be listed and, if so, on which Financial Exchange.

This Master Programme Memorandum and any supplement will only be valid for the issue of Notes
in an aggregate Nominal Amount which, when added to the aggregate Nominal Amount then
outstanding of all the Notes previously or simultaneously issued under the Master Structured Note
Programme, does not exceed the authorised Programme amount of ZAR40,000,000,000 or its
equivalent in other currencies. For the purpose of calculating the South African Rand equivalent of
the aggregate Nominal Amount of the Notes issued under the Master Structured Note Programme
from time to time, the South African Rand equivalent of the Notes denominated in another Issuance
Currency (as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement) shall be determined as of the Agreement

Date on the basis of the Conversion Rate and in respect of:

(a) Zero Coupon Notes and other Notes, the Conversion Rate shall be applied to the net

subscription proceeds received by the Issuer for the relevant issue; and

(b) Partly Paid Notes and Index Linked Notes, the Conversion Rate shall be applied to the

Nominal Amount regardless of the amount paid up on such Notes.

From time to time the Issuer may wish to increase the Programme Amount. Subject to the Applicable
Procedures, all applicable laws and the Programme Agreement, the Issuer may, without the consent
of Noteholders, increase the Programme Amount by delivering a notice thereof (i) to the Noteholders
in accordance with Condition 15 (Notices) of the Terms and Conditions, (ii) the Arranger and the
Dealer(s) (if any) and (iii) the relevant Financial Exchange (if required). Upon such notice being given

and the conditions set out in the Programme Agreement, if any, to the exercise of this right having
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been met, all references in this Master Programme Memorandum (and each agreement, deed or
document relating to the Master Structured Note Programme and/or this Master Programme
Memorandum) to the Programme Amount will be, and will be deemed to be, references to the

increased Programme Amount set out in such notice.

Investing in the Notes involves certain risk (see Section I-E of this Master Programme headed “Risk

Factors”).
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SECTION I-C: SUMMARY OF THE MASTER STRUCTURED NOTE PROGRAMME

The following summary does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified by, the

remainder of this Master Programme Memorandum and, in relation to the Terms and Conditions of

any particular Tranche of Notes, the Applicable Product Supplement and/or the Applicable Pricing

Supplement. Capitalised words used in this section headed “Summary of the Programme” shall have

the same meanings as defined in the Terms and Conditions, unless they are defined in this section

or this is clearly inappropriate from the context.

PARTIES

Arranger

Clearstream,

Luxembourg

Dealers

Euroclear
Issuer

Paying Agent

Transfer

Agent/Registrar

Calculation Agent

EMEA 120997881

Absa Bank Limited (registration number 1986/004794/06) or such
other Arranger as may be appointed by the Issuer, as specified in an

Applicable Product Supplement or Applicable Pricing Supplement.

Clearstream Banking S.A.

Absa Bank Limited (registration number 1986/004794/06) and any
other Dealer appointed under the Master Structured Note Programme
from time to time, which appointment may be for a specific issue or on
an ongoing basis, subject to the Issuer's right to terminate the

appointment of any Dealer.
Euroclear Banking S.A./N.V.
Absa Bank Limited (registration number 1986/004794/06)

Société Générale Bank & Trust, or such other Paying Agent as may
be appointed by the Issuer, as specified in an Applicable Product

Supplement or Applicable Pricing Supplement.

Société Générale Bank & Trust, or such other Transfer

Agent/Registrar as may be appointed by the Issuer.

Absa Bank Limited (registration number 1986/004794/06), unless the
Issuer elects to appoint, in relation to a Series or Tranche of Notes,
another entity as Calculation Agent in respect of that Series or

Tranche.
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Blocked Rand
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Blocked Rand may be used to subscribe for or purchase Notes,
subject to South African Exchange Control Regulations (see Section
VIl of this Master Programme Memorandum headed “South African

Exchange Control’).

Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be specified in the

Applicable Pricing Supplement.

The Absa Bank Limited ZAR 40,000,000,000 Master Structured Note

Programme.

In respect of Notes held in a depository or common depository of

Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg
Notes may be issued in bearer form or in registered form.

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes will initially be in the form of either a
Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note (each defined in
the section “Form of the Notes”), in each case as specified in the
Applicable Pricing Supplement. Each Global Note will be deposited
on or around the relevant issue date with a depositary or a common
depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and
registered in the name of a nominee for Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg. Each Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable for
a Permanent Global Note or for Definitive Notes (as defined in the
section “Form of Notes”) in accordance with its terms. If the TEFRA
D Rules are specified in the relevant Applicable Pricing Supplement
as applicable, certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership will be
a condition precedent to any exchange of an interest in a Temporary
Global Note or receipt of any payment of interest in respect of a
Temporary Global Note. Each Permanent Global Note will be
exchangeable for Definitive Notes in accordance with its terms.
Definitive Notes will, if interest-bearing, have Coupons attached and,

if appropriate, a Talon for further Coupons.
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Each Tranche of Registered Notes will be in the form of Registered
Note Certificates (as defined in the section “Form of Notes”) or a
Registered Global Note (as defined in the section “Form of Notes”), in
each case as specified in the relevant Applicable Pricing Supplement.
Each Registered Global Note will be deposited on or around the
relevant issue date with a depositary or a common depositary for
Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and registered in the
name of a nominee for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.
Persons holding beneficial interests in the Registered Global Note will
be entitled or required, as the case may be, to receive physical

delivery of Registered Note Certificates.

Interests in a Registered Global Note will be exchangeable (free of
charge), in whole but not in part, for Registered Note Certificates
without receipts, interest coupons or talons attached only in the limited

circumstances.

Governing Law & The Master Programme Memorandum, the Notes and all rights and
Jurisdiction obligations (including non-contractual obligations) arising out of or in
connection with the Notes are governed by, and shall be construed in

accordance with, the laws of England and Wales.

The Courts of England are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any
disputes, controversy, proceedings or claim of whatever nature that
may arise out of or in connection with any Notes (including in respect
of their formation or non-contractual obligations) and accordingly any

such legal action or proceedings may be brought in such courts.

Interest A Tranche of Notes may be interest-bearing or non-interest bearing,
a specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement. Interest (if any) may
accrue at a fixed rate or a floating rate or other variable rate or be
index linked, and the method of calculating interest may vary between

the Issue Date and the Maturity Date.

Interest Period(s) or The Interest Rate(s), Interest Payment Date(s) and Interest Period(s)
Interest Payment applicable to interest-bearing Notes will be specified in the Applicable
Date(s) Pricing Supplement.
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Notes may be issued on a fully-paid or a partly-paid basis and at an
issue price which is at their Nominal Amount or at a discount to, or
premium over, their Nominal Amount as specified in the Applicable

Pricing Supplement.

The Master Programme Memorandum has been approved by the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange in connection with the admission to the
Official List of the Master Structured Note Programme and for trading
on the Euro MTF of the Notes. Notes issued under the Programme
may be admitted to the Official List and traded on the Euro MTF or on

a successor exchange.

Any Exchangeable Notes or Other Notes issued under this Master
Structured Note Programme will need to be separately reviewed and
approved by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange prior to any trading on
the Euro MTF of such Notes.

Notes to be issued under the Master Structured Note Programme may

also be on any other Financial Exchange.

Unlisted Notes may also be issued under the Master Programme

Memorandum.

The holders of the Notes, as further described in Section I-D of this

Master Programme Memorandum headed “Form of the Notes”.
Notes may comprise:

Fixed Rate Notes: Fixed Rate Notes will bear interest at a fixed
interest rate, as indicated in the Applicable Product Supplement or

Applicable Pricing Supplement;

Floating Rate Notes: Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a
floating rate, as indicated in the Applicable Product Supplement or

Applicable Pricing Supplement;

Zero Coupon Notes: Zero Coupon Notes will be offered and sold at
a discount to their Nominal Amount or at par and will not bear interest

other than in the case of late payment;
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Instalment Notes: the Applicable Product Supplement or Applicable
Pricing Supplement in respect of each issue of Notes that are
redeemable in two or more instalments will set out the dates on which,

and the amounts in which, such Notes may be redeemed;

Partly Paid Notes: the Issue Price of Partly Paid Notes will be
payable in two or more instalments as set out in the Applicable Pricing

Supplement;

Mixed Rate Notes: Mixed Rate Notes will bear interest payable on
the relevant form of interest-bearing Note (be it a Fixed Rate Note,
Floating Rate Note, Index Linked Note or Dual Currency Note)
specified for each respective period, each as specified in an
Applicable Product Supplement or the Applicable Pricing Supplement.
During each such applicable period, the interest payable on the Mixed
Rate Notes shall be determined and fall due for payment on the basis
that such Mixed Rate Notes are Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate
Notes, Index Linked Notes or Dual Currency Notes, as the case may
be;

Index Linked Notes: payments in respect of interest on Index
Interest Notes or in respect of principal on Indexed Redemption
Amount Notes will be calculated by reference to such index and/or
formula as may be indicated in the Applicable Product Supplement or

Applicable Pricing Supplement;

Dual Currency Notes: payments in respect of interest will be made
in a base currency and payments in respect of principal will be made
in a non-base currency or vice versa as indicated in an Applicable
Product Supplement or the Applicable Pricing Supplement, subject to
South African Exchange Control Regulations (see Section VIl of this
Master Programme Memorandum headed “South African Exchange
Control);

Exchangeable Notes: Notes which may be redeemed by the Issuer
in cash or by the delivery of securities as specified in the Applicable

Pricing Supplement;
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Credit Linked Notes: Notes issued subject to the condition that,
upon the occurrence of a Credit Event, the Issuer may, subject to
certain conditions, redeem the Notes by payment of money (in an
amount equal to the CLN Cash Settlement Amount) or, if so provided,
by the Delivery of such Note’s pro rata share (on a per Nominal
Amount per Note basis) of the Deliverable Obligations Portfolio, as
further detailed in the Applicable Product Supplement. The CLN Cash
Settlement Amount or the value of the pro rata share of the
Deliverable Obligations Portfolio may be less than the Nominal

Amount of the Notes, or zero; and

Other Notes: terms applicable to Notes other than those specifically
contemplated under this Programme Memorandum will be set out in

the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

The maximum aggregate Nominal Amount of all Notes Outstanding
that may be issued under the Master Structured Note Programme at
any one point in time, being as at the Programme Date, ZAR
40,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) or such
increased amount as is determined by the Issuer from time to time,
subject to the Applicable Procedures, applicable laws and the Master
Programme Memorandum, as set out in Section I-B of this Master
Programme Memorandum headed “General Description of the Master

Structured Note Programme”.

Scheduled Redemption: A Tranche of Notes will, subject to the
Terms and Conditions, be redeemed on the Maturity Date, as set out

in Condition 8.1 (Redemption at Maturity).

Early Redemption at the option of the Issuer: If the Issuer has
specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement that it has the option to
redeem, the Issuer may (having given not less than 15 (fifteen) and
not more than 60 (sixty) days’, or such other period as specified in the
Applicable Pricing Supplement, irrevocable notice to the Noteholders
in accordance with Condition 15 (Notices)) redeem the Notes in
whole, or if so specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, in part
on the Optional Redemption Dates, in accordance with Condition 8.3

(Early Redemption at the Option of the Issuer).
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Early Redemption at the option of the Noteholders: If Noteholders
are specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement as having an option
to request the redemption of Notes, such Noteholders may exercise
such option in respect of such Notes represented by Registered Note
Certificates by delivering to the Transfer Agent/Registrar, in
accordance with Condition 15 (Notices), a duly executed notice, at
least 30 (thirty) calendar days but not more than 60 (sixty) calendar

days, prior to the Optional Redemption Date.

Redemption for Tax Reasons or due to change in Change in Law:
If so specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, the Issuer may
redeem any Tranche of Notes at any time prior to the Maturity Date
due to tax reasons or due to a Change in Law as set out in
Condition 8.2 (Redemption for Tax Reasons or due to Change in

Law).

Early Redemption following an Event of Default: Upon the
occurrence of an Event of Default and receipt by the Issuer of a written
notice declaring Notes held by the relevant Noteholder to be forthwith
due and payable in accordance with Condition 13 (Events of Default),
such Notes shall become forthwith due and payable at the Early
Redemption Amount in the manner set out in Condition 8.5 (Early
Redemption Amounts), together with interest (if any) to the date of

payment, in accordance with Condition 13 (Events of Default).

Notes may be redeemable at par or at such other Redemption Amount
(detailed in a formula, index or otherwise) as may be specified in the
Applicable Pricing Supplement. Notes may also be redeemable in two
or more instalments on such dates and in such manner as may be
specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement relating to the relevant

Tranche of Notes.

Investing in the Notes involves certain risks (see the section of this

Programme Memorandum headed Section I-E “Risk Factors”).

As at the Programme Date, no securities transfer tax (as
contemplated in the Securities Transfer Tax Act, 2007) is payable on

the issue or on the transfer of Notes.
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The distribution of this Master Programme Memorandum and/or any
Applicable Product Supplement and/or Applicable Pricing Supplement
and any offering or sale of or subscription for any Tranche of Notes
may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions, and is restricted by
law in the United States, the United Kingdom, the European Economic
Area, South Africa and certain other jurisdictions (see section headed
“Subscription and Sale”). Any other or additional restrictions which
are applicable and which may be required to be met in relation to an
offering or sale of a particular Tranche of Notes will be included in the
Applicable Product Supplement and/or Applicable Pricing
Supplement. Persons who come into possession of this Master
Programme Memorandum and/or any Applicable Product Supplement
and/or any Applicable Pricing Supplement must inform themselves

about and observe all applicable selling restrictions.

The Notes represent general, unsecured, unsubordinated, contractual
obligations of the Issuer and rank pari passu in all respects with each
other, all as described in Condition 5 (Status of Notes), the Applicable
Product Supplement and/or the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

A summary of the applicable tax legislation in respect of the Notes, as
at the Programme Date, is set out in the section of this Programme
Memorandum headed “South African Taxation”. The summary does
not constitute tax advice. Potential investors in the Notes should
consult their own professional advisers as to the potential tax
consequences of, and their tax positions in respect of, an investment

in the Notes.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes are set out in the section of
this Master Programme Memorandum headed “Terms and Conditions
of the Notes”.

To the extent that the Issuer issues a type of Note that is provided for
in this Master Programme Memorandum, certain supplemental terms
and conditions applicable to such Notes will be contained in the
Applicable Pricing Supplement. The Applicable Pricing Supplement

for each Tranche of Notes is incorporated herein for the purposes of
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such Tranche and supplements the Terms and Conditions of the

Notes.

To the extent that the Issuer issues a type of Note that is not already
provided for in this Master Programme Memorandum, certain
supplemental terms and conditions applicable to such Notes will be
contained in the relevant Applicable Product Supplement, which
Applicable Product Supplement may contain its own pro forma
Applicable Pricing Supplement. For the purposes of such Notes, the
Applicable Product Supplement and the relevant Applicable Pricing
Supplement for such Notes are incorporated herein and supplements

the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Withholding Tax As at the Programme Date all payments in respect of the Notes will
be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of taxes
levied in South Africa. In the event that certain withholding tax or such
other deduction is required by applicable law, then the Issuer will,
subject to the Issuer’s rights to redeem Notes pursuant to Condition 8
(Redemption for Tax Reasons or due to Change in Law) (and subject
to certain exceptions as provided in Condition 9 (Taxation) of the
Terms and Conditions), pay such additional amounts as shall be
necessary in order that the net amounts received by the Noteholders
after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts
of principal and interest which would otherwise have been receivable
in respect of the Notes in the absence of such withholding or

deduction.

Rating The Master Structured Note Programme is not rated. A Series or
Tranche of Notes may, on or before the Issue Date, be rated by a
Rating Agency on a national scale or international scale basis.
Unrated Series and/or Tranches of Notes may also be issued. A
Rating of a Series or a Tranche of Notes is not a recommendation to
subscribe for, buy, sell or hold any Notes, and may be subject to

revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time by the Rating Agency.
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SECTION I-D: FORM OF THE NOTES

Capitalised Terms used in this Section I-D of this Master Programme Memorandum headed “Form of
the Notes” shall bear the same meanings as used in the Glossary of Terms, except to the extent that

such meanings would be clearly inappropriate from the context.

A Tranche of Notes may be issued in the form of Listed Notes or Unlisted Notes as specified in an

Applicable Product Supplement or the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

The Notes of each Series will be in either bearer form, with or without interest coupons attached, or

registered form, without interest coupons attached.

Bearer Notes

Each Tranche of Notes in bearer form (“Bearer Notes”) will initially be in the form of either a temporary
global note in bearer form (the “Temporary Global Note”), without interest coupons, or a permanent
global note in bearer form (the “Permanent Global Note”), without interest coupons, in each case as
specified in the relevant Applicable Pricing Supplement. Each Temporary Global Note or, as the case
may be, Permanent Global Note (each a “Global Note”) will be deposited on or around the issue date
of the relevant Tranche of the Notes with a depositary or a common depositary for Euroclear Bank
S.A/N.V. as operator of the Euroclear System (“‘Euroclear’) and/or Clearstream Banking, S.A.,
Luxembourg (“Clearstream, Luxembourg”) and registered in the name of a nominee for Euroclear

and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

In the case of each Tranche of Bearer Notes, the Applicable Pricing Supplement will also specify
whether United States Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (the “TEFRA C Rules”) or United
States Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (the “TEFRA D Rules”) are applicable in relation to
the Notes or, if the Notes do not have a maturity of more than 365 days, that neither the TEFRA C
Rules nor the TEFRA D Rules are applicable.

Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Permanent Global Note

If the Applicable Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being “Temporary Global Note
exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note”, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary
Global Note which will be exchangeable, in whole or in part, for interests in a Permanent Global Note,
without interest coupons, not earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the
Notes upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. No payments will be made under the

Temporary Global Note unless exchange for interests in the Permanent Global Note is improperly
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withheld or refused. In addition, interest payments in respect of the Notes cannot be collected without

such certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

Whenever any interest in the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for an interest in a
Permanent Global Note, the Issuer shall procure (in the case of first exchange) the delivery of a
Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the Temporary Global Note or (in the case of any subsequent
exchange) an increase in the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note in accordance with its

terms against:

(i) presentation and (in the case of final exchange) presentation and surrender of the Temporary

Global Note to or to the order of the Paying Agent; and
(i) receipt by the Paying Agent of a certificate or certificates of non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

The principal amount of Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note shall be equal to the
aggregate of the principal amounts specified in the certificates of non-U.S. beneficial ownership
provided, however, that in no circumstances shall the principal amount of Notes represented by the
Permanent Global Note exceed the initial principal amount of Notes represented by the Temporary
Global Note.

The Permanent Global Note will be exchanged in whole but not in part for Definitive Notes if:

(i) any Note of the relevant Series becomes immediately redeemable following the occurrence of

an Event of Default in relation thereto; or

(i) Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg is closed for business for a continuous period of 14
days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces an intention to cease business

permanently or in fact does so,
(each an “Exchange Event”) at the cost and expense of the Issuer.

In order to exercise the option contained in paragraph (i) of the preceding sentence, the bearer hereof
must, not less than 45 days before the date upon which the delivery of such Definitive Notes is
required, deposit the Permanent Global Note with the Paying Agent at its specified office with the form
of exchange notice endorsed hereon duly completed. Any Definitive Notes will be made available for

collection by the persons entitled thereto at the specified office of the Paying Agent.
Rights under Deed of Covenant

Under the Deed of Covenant, persons shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg as being entitled to an interest in a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note

which becomes void will acquire directly against the Issuer all those rights to which they would have
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been entitled if, immediately before the Temporary Global Note or Permanent Global Note became
void, they had been the holders of Definitive Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the
principal amount of Notes they were shown as holding in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream,

Luxembourg.
Terms and Conditions applicable to the Bearer Notes

The terms and conditions applicable to any Definitive Note will be endorsed on that Note and will
consist of the terms and conditions set out under “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” below and the

provisions of the relevant Applicable Pricing Supplement which complete those terms and conditions.

The terms and conditions applicable to any Note in global form will differ from those terms and

conditions which would apply to the Note were it in definitive form.
Registered Notes

Each Tranche of Registered Notes will be in the form of either Registered Note Certificate in registered
form (“Registered Note Certificates”) or a global Note in registered form (a “Registered Global
Note”), in each case as specified in the relevant Applicable Pricing Supplement. Each Registered
Global Note will be deposited on or around the relevant issue date with a depositary or a common
depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and registered in the name of a nominee
for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and will be exchangeable for Registered Note

Certificates in accordance with its terms.

If the relevant Applicable Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being “Registered Note
Certificates”, then the Notes will at all times be in the form of Registered Note Certificates issued to

each Noteholder in respect of their respective holdings.

If the relevant Applicable Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being “Registered Global
Note exchangeable for Registered Note Certificates”, then Registered Global Note will be exchanged

in whole but not in part for Registered Note Certificates if:

(i) any Note of the relevant Series becomes immediately redeemable following the occurrence

of an Event of Default in relation thereto; or

(i) Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg is closed for business for a continuous period of 14
days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces an intention to cease business

permanently or in fact does so.

(each an “Exchange Event”) at the cost and expense of the Issuer.
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Any Registered Note Certificates will be made available for collection by the persons entitled thereto

at the specified office of the Paying Agent.

Whenever the Registered Global Note is to be exchanged for Registered Note Certificates, the Issuer
shall procure the prompt delivery of an equal aggregate principal amount of duly executed and
authenticated Registered Note Certificates, registered in such names as the Paying Agent shall
specify, to the Transfer Agent/Registrar (and in any event within five business days (as defined below)
of receipt by the Transfer Agent/Registrar of the Registered Global Note and any further information
required to complete, authenticate and deliver such Registered Note Certificates) against the
surrender by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg or a common depositary of Euroclear and/or
Clearstream, Luxembourg of the Global Note at the specified office of the Paying Agent, all in
accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement and the Conditions. In this paragraph,
“‘business day” means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are
open for business (including dealings in foreign currencies) in the cities in which the Paying Agent

has its specified office.

Payments of principal, interest and any other amount in respect of the Registered Global Notes will,
in the absence of provision to the contrary, be made to the person shown on the Register (as the
registered holder of the Registered Global Notes. None of the Issuer, any Paying Agent or the
Transfer Agent/Registrar will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating
to or payments or deliveries made on account of beneficial ownership interests in the Registered
Global Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial

ownership interests.

Payments of principal, interest or any other amount in respect of the Registered Note Certificates will,
in the absence or provision to the contrary, be made to the persons shown on the Register on the
relevant Record Date (as defined in Condition 7.3.5 (Record Date)) immediately preceding the due

date for payment in the manner provided in that Condition.
Terms and Conditions applicable to the Registered Notes

The terms and conditions applicable to any Registered Note Certificate will be endorsed on that
Registered Note Certificate and will consist of the terms and conditions set out under “Terms and
Conditions of the Notes” below and the provisions of the Applicable Pricing Supplement which

complete those terms and conditions.

The terms and conditions applicable to any Registered Global Note will differ from those terms and

conditions which would apply to the Note were it in individual form.

Rights under Deed of Covenant
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Under the Deed of Covenant, persons shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg as being entitled to an interest in a Registered Global Note which becomes void will
acquire directly against the Issuer all those rights to which they would have been entitled if,
immediately before the Registered Global Note became void, they had been the holders of Registered
Note Certificates in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes they were

shown as holding in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg.
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SECTION I-E: RISK FACTORS

Capitalised Terms used in this Section I-E entitled “Risk Factors” shall bear the same meanings as
used in the Terms and Conditions, except to the extent that they are separately defined in this section

or this is clearly inappropriate from the context.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below, as read with Section V of this Master Programme
Memorandum entitled “Description of Absa Bank Limited”, which are not set out in any particular
order, represent key risks inherent in investing in the Notes, but the inability of the Issuer to pay
interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may occur for other reasons
which may not be considered significant risks by the Issuer based on information currently available
to it, or which it may not currently be able to anticipate. Some risks are not yet known and some that
are not currently deemed material could later turn out to be material. Accordingly, the Issuer does
not represent or warrant that the statements below regarding the risks of holding of any Notes are
exhaustive. This section should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by, the
detailed information contained elsewhere in this Master Programme Memorandum and, in relation to
any Series or Tranche of Notes, an Applicable Product Supplement and/or the Applicable Pricing

Supplement.

Prospective purchasers of the Notes should ensure that they fully understand the nature of the Notes
and the extent of their exposure to risks, and that they consider the suitability of the Notes as an

investment in the light of their own circumstances and financial position.

The Notes involve a high degree of risk, including the risk of losing some or a significant part of their
initial investment. Potential investors should be prepared to sustain a total loss of their investment in
the Notes. The Notes represent general, unsecured, unsubordinated, contractual obligations of the

Issuer and rank pari passu in all respects with each other.

Purchasers are reminded that the Notes constitute obligations of the Issuer only and of no other
person. Therefore, potential purchasers should understand that they are relying on the credit

worthiness of the Issuer.

All of these risks could materially affect the Issuer, its reputation, business, results of its operations

and overall financial condition.

The information set out below is therefore not intended as advice and does not purport to describe all

of the considerations that may be relevant to a prospective investor.
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Investors contemplating making an investment in the Notes should determine their own investment
objectives and experience, and any other factors which may be relevant to them in connection with

such investment.
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RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE NOTES
1. RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUER OR ITS BUSINESS

For further information on risks facing the Issuer’s business, and the measures in place to
mitigate these risks, please refer to Section V of this Master Programme Memorandum headed
“Description of Absa Bank Limited” under paragraph titled “Risk” on page 166 of the

Programme Memorandum.
2. RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUER’S INDUSTRY

For further information on risks relating to the Issuer’s industry, see the Issuer’s annual report
incorporated herein by reference and Section V of this Master Programme Memorandum

headed “Description of Absa Bank Limited’.

3. FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT THE ISSUER’S ABILITY TO FULFIL ITS OBLIGATIONS
UNDER NOTES ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME

3.1. The Issuer’s financial performance is subject to inherent risks concerning borrower

credit

The Issuer’s businesses are subject to inherent risks regarding borrower credit quality
and the recoverability of loans and amounts due from counterparties. Changes in the
credit quality of the Issuer’s borrowers and counterparties or arising from systemic risk
in the financial systems could reduce the value of the Issuer's assets, and require
increased provisions for bad and doubtful debts. In addition, changes in economic
conditions may result in deterioration in the value of security held against lending
exposures and increase the risk of loss in the event of borrower default. The Issuer
has established credit quality management policies and actively monitors credit

exposure on an on-going basis to mitigate such risks.

3.2. The Issuer’s businesses are inherently subject to the risk of market fluctuations

The Issuer’s businesses are inherently subject to the risk of market fluctuations. In
particular, the Issuer’s activities are subject to interest rate risks and may in some
cases also be subject to foreign exchange, bond and equity price risks. Changes in
interest rate levels, yield curves and spreads may affect the interest rate margin
realised between lending and borrowing costs. The performance of financial markets
may cause changes in the value of the Issuer’s investment and trading portfolios. The
Issuer has implemented risk management methods to mitigate and control these and

other market risks to which the Issuer is exposed. However, it is difficult to predict with
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accuracy changes in economic or market conditions and to anticipate the effects that

such changes could have on the Issuer’s financial performance.

The Issuer’s business may be exposed to the adverse effects of operational risks

The Issuer's businesses are subject to operational risk, and losses can result from
inadequate or failed internal processes, documentation, people, systems, fraud,
equipment failures, natural disasters or the failure of external systems, including those
of the Issuer’s suppliers and counterparties. The Issuer’s systems, processes and
internal controls are designed to ensure that the operational risks associated with its
activities are appropriately monitored and controlled. In addition, business resumption
and disaster recovery processes have been implemented to mitigate operational risks

inherent in the Issuer’s business.

Liquidity risk may impair the Issuer’s ability to adequately fund its operations

Ready access to funds is essential to any banking business, including those operated
by the Issuer. An inability on the part of the Issuer to access funds or to access the
markets from which it raises funds may lead to the Issuer being unable to finance its
operations adequately, which in turn could adversely affect its results of operations
and financial condition. In particular, the Issuer takes deposits with maturities which
are shorter than the loans it makes. This exposes the Issuer to the risk that depositors
could withdraw their funds at a rate faster than the rate at which borrowers repay their
loans, thus causing liquidity strains. Additionally, the Issuer’s ability to raise or access
funds may be impaired by factors that are not specific to it, such as general market
conditions, severe disruption of the financial markets or negative views about the
prospects for the industries or regions in which the Issuer operates. In addition, the
Issuer's borrowing costs and access to funds may be adversely affected by any
reduction in its credit rating, and no assurance can be given that any rating agency will
not at some time in the future reduce such credit ratings. The Issuer has developed
and implemented risk management policies, procedures and processes designed to

reduce this risk through active monitoring and reporting of its liquidity position.

The Issuer, in common with other banks in South Africa, is very reliant on wholesale
funding rather than retail deposits, due to the low savings rate within South Africa.
Although the Issuer believes that its level of access to domestic and international inter-
bank and capital markets and its liquidity risk management policy allow and will
continue to allow the Issuer to meet its short-term and long-term liquidity needs, any

maturity mismatches may have a material adverse effect on its financial condition and
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results of operations. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the Issuer will be

successful in obtaining additional sources of funds on acceptable terms or at all.

The Issuer’s risk management policies and procedures may not have identified or

anticipated all potential risk exposures

The Issuer has devoted significant resources to developing its risk management
policies and procedures, particularly in connection with credit, market, liquidity, interest
rate and operational risks, and expects to continue to do so in the future. Nonetheless,
its risk management techniques may not be fully effective in mitigating its risk exposure
in all market environments or against all types of risk, including risks that are
unidentified or unanticipated. Some of the Issuer's methods of managing risk are
based upon its use of observed historical market behaviour. As a result, these
methods may not predict future risk exposures, which could be greater than historical
measures indicate. Other risk management methods depend upon evaluation of
information regarding the markets in which the Issuer operates, its clients or other
matters that are publicly available or otherwise accessible by the Issuer. This
information may not be accurate in all cases, complete, up-to-date or properly
evaluated. Any failure arising out of the Issuer’s risk management techniques may

have an adverse effect on its results of operations and financial condition.

The financial services industry in which the Issuer operates is competitive

The financial services industry in which the Issuer’s businesses operate is highly
competitive. The Issuer competes on the basis of a number of factors, including
customer services and quality, transaction execution, its products and services,
innovation, reputation and price. New competitors, including companies other than
banks, may disintermediate the market thus impacting market share. Many of the
banks operating in the Issuer’s markets compete for substantially the same customers
as the Issuer. Anincrease in competition in some or all of the Issuer’s principal markets

may have an adverse effect on its financial condition and results of operations.

Concentration Risk

The Issuer's business is significantly focused on the South African markets and
therefore faces a geographic concentration risk. Any adverse changes affecting the
South African economy are likely to have an adverse impact on the Issuer’s loan

portfolio and, as a result, on its financial condition and results of its operations.
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The Issuer may be unable to recruit, retain and motivate key personnel

The Issuer’s performance is dependent on the talents and efforts of key personnel,
some of whom may have been employed by the Issuer for a substantial period of time
and have developed with the business. The Issuer’'s continued ability to compete
effectively and further develop its businesses also depends on its ability to attract new
employees. In relation to the development and training of new staff, the Issuer is reliant
on the continued development of the educational sector within South Africa, including
access to facilities and educational programmes by its future employees. The Issuer
has implemented programmes, for example its Graduate Programme, to attract new

employees and equip them with appropriate skills.

Terrorist acts and other acts of war could have a negative impact on the business

Terrorist acts, and other acts of war or hostility and responses to those acts, may create
economic and political uncertainties, which could have a negative impact on South
Africa, and international economic conditions generally, and more specifically on the

business and results of operations of the Issuer in ways that cannot be predicted.

The Issuer is subject to capital requirements that could limit its operations

The Issuer is subject to capital adequacy guidelines adopted by the South African
Reserve Bank, which provide for a minimum target ratio of capital to risk-adjusted
assets. Any failure by the Issuer to maintain its ratios may result in sanctions against
the Issuer which may in turn impact on its ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes.
(See the subheading “Regulatory Environment” in Section V of this Master Programme
Memorandum headed “Description of Absa Bank Limited’, and clause 3.11 (Basel Ill)
below for a description of the measures the Issuer has put in place in order to comply
with Basel llI).

Basel Il

The amended Regulations relating to Banks (as further amended on 20 May 2016)
(the “Regulations Relating to Banks”) effective 1 January 2013 are based on the
Basel Ill framework and provide the minimum risk based capital ratios. The SARB
minimum ratios will be phased in for the period 2013 to 2019 in line with Basel Il
requirements. The minimum CET 1 ratio for 2017 was 7.25% increasing to 7.375% in
2018 and to 7.5% in 2019. The minimum tier 1 ratio for 2017 was 8.5% increasing to
8.875% in 2018 and to 9.25% in 2019. The minimum total capital adequacy ratio for
2017 was 10.75% increasing to 11.125% in 2018 and to 11.5% in 2019. These
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minimum regulatory capital requirements include the capital conservation buffer but
exclude the bank-specific individual capital requirement (“Pillar 2b add-on”) and the

Domestic Systemically Important Bank (“D-SIB”) add-on.

The Basel Il capital buffers will make it more challenging for banks to comply with
minimum capital ratios in future. Failure by the Issuer to meet certain of these buffers,
for example the capital conservation and counter-cyclicality buffers could result in
restrictions being placed on distributions, including dividends, share buybacks and
discretionary payments and any failure by the Issuer to maintain its capital ratios may
result in action taken in respect of the Issuer which may in turn impact on its ability to
fulfil its obligations under the Notes. Prospective investors in the Notes should consult
their own advisers as to the consequences for them of the potential application of the

Basel Il framework.

In addition, Basel Il prescribes two minimum liquidity standards for funding liquidity.
The first is the liquidity coverage ratio (“‘LCR”) which became effective on 1 January
2015 and aims to ensure that banks maintain an adequate level of high-quality liquid
assets to meet liquidity needs for a 30 (thirty) calendar day period under a severe
stress scenario. The second is the Net Stable Funding Ratio (“NSFR”), which became
effective 1 January 2018, and aims to promote medium and long-term funding of

banks’ assets and activities.

South Africa, as a G20 and Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (“Basel
Committee”) member country, commenced the phasing-in of the Basel Il framework
on 1 January 2013 and will continue to implement the accord up to 1 January 2019 in
line with timelines determined by the Basel Committee. The Issuer reported a three
month average LCR of 107.5% as at 31 December 2017, exceeding the SARB’s 2017

minimum phase-in requirement of 80%.

The SARB has approved the 2018 committed liquidity facility (“CLF”) which will be
available to banks to assist banks to meet the LCR. The SARB’s approach to the CLF
is detailed in, inter alia, Guidance Note 6 of 2016 (Provision of a committed liquidity
facility by the SARB).

Given the structural funding profile of South Africa’s financial sector, the South African
banking sector (including the lIssuer), based on the current funding profile, was

expected to experience difficulty in complying with the Basel Il NSFR requirement.
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Brexit — The United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union

The result of the UK referendum on its withdrawal from the European Union may have
a negative effect on economic conditions, financial markets and materially adversely

affect the Issuer’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

On 23 June 2016, a majority of voters in the United Kingdom opted to withdraw from
the European Union in a national referendum and on 29 March 2017, the UK
Government formally initiated the withdrawal process (“Brexit’). The terms of
withdrawal are subject to an ongoing negotiation period. The outcome of the
referendum and the terms of withdrawal have created significant uncertainty about the
future relationship between the United Kingdom and the European Union, and has
given rise to calls for certain regions within the United Kingdom to preserve their place

in the European Union by separating from the United Kingdom.

Depending on the final terms of Brexit, the United Kingdom could lose access to the
single European Union market, which could result, among other things, in the
disruption of the free movement of goods, services and people between the United
Kingdom and the European Union, undermine bilateral cooperation in key geographic
areas and significantly disrupt trade between the United Kingdom and the European
Union or other nations as the United Kingdom pursues independent trade relations.
This could have an impact on the general and economic conditions in the United

Kingdom, which may adversely affect financial markets and the Issuer.

Until the terms of Brexit become clear, it is not possible to determine the impact Brexit
may have on financial markets and the Issuer’s business. The potential impacts, if any,
of the uncertainty of Brexit or the resulting terms of the withdrawal from the European
Union on customer behaviour, labour availability in the United Kingdom, economic
conditions, interest rates, exchange rates, availability of capital or other matters is
unclear. Examples of the impact Brexit could have on financial markets and the

Issuer’s business, financial condition or results of operations include:

3.12.1. uncertainty as to the terms of the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from, and future
relationship with, the European Union in terms of the impact on the free

movement of employees, services and capital,

3.12.2. changes in foreign currency exchange rates and disruption in the capital

markets;
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3.12.3. legal uncertainty and potentially divergent national laws and regulations as the
United Kingdom determines which EU laws and directives to replace or
replicate, or where previously implemented by enactment of UK laws or

regulations, to retain, amend or repeal; and

3.12.4. various geopolitical forces may impact the global economy and the Issuer’s
business, including, for example, other EU member states proposing

referendums to, or electing to, exit the European Union.

The announcement of the Brexit referendum result led to the weakening of the pound

sterling against the US dollar, the euro and other major currencies.

Any of the aforementioned effects of Brexit, and others that we cannot anticipate, could
adversely impact financial markets and the Issuer’s business, results of operations and

financial condition.

The Issuer is affected by market uncertainty prior to the finalisation of the South African

resolution framework in line with international standards

South Africa is a member of the G20 and of the Financial Stability Board. As such and
to meet South Africa’s international commitments, the Bank Supervision Department
of the SARB in conjunction with the National Treasury is in the process of drafting
legislation to provide for bank resolution in South Africa. In accordance with its Basel
Il and G20 commitments, the SARB is developing a resolution framework. On 5
October 2018 the National Treasury published the Draft Financial Sector Laws
Amendment Bill for public comment. The Financial Sector Laws Amendment Bill
proposes to establish a framework for the orderly resolution of banks, systemically
important non-bank financial institutions and holding companies of banks or
systematically important non-bank financial institutions that are designated by the
Governor of the Reserve Bank as systematically important (“Resolution
Framework”). The Resolution Framework has not yet been finalised and only once
finalised will banks be in a better position to fully assess the potential impact of the

Resolution Framework on the South African banking market

During May 2017, the SARB’s Financial Stability Department released a discussion
document on designing a deposit insurance scheme (“DIS”) for South Africa. As a
member of the G20, South Africa has agreed to adopt the Financial Stability Board’s
“Key Attributes of Effective Resolution Regimes for Financial Institutions”, one of which
requires jurisdictions to have a privately-funded depositor protection and/or a

resolution fund in place. The paper advocates the need for an explicit, privately-funded
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DIS for South Africa, the main objective being the protection of less financially
sophisticated depositors in the event of a bank failure. It presents proposals on the
key design features of such a DIS and aims to solicit views on these proposals. The
paper also refers to the discussion paper titled “Strengthening South Africa’s
Resolution Framework for Financial Institutions”, published by the National Treasury
on 13 August 2015. Together, the proposed Resolution Framework and the DIS are
expected to form the comprehensive regulatory architecture for reducing the social and
economic cost of failing financial institutions and will be captured by the Resolution
Framework. No timelines around the Resolution Framework have been formally
communicated although it is understood that the Resolution Framework does contain
high-level principles of the DIS, with the actual mechanics to be captured in
supplemental regulations or directives once designed and agreed. Only once finalised
will banks be in a position to fully assess the potential impact of a DIS in South Africa.
There is no assurance that the introduction of the DIS will not have a negative impact

on the operations of the Issuer.

Arising from the curatorship of African Bank Limited, the Banks Amendment Act, 2015
(the “Banks Amendment Act’) was promulgated with effect from 29 June 2015 to
amend (in particular) section 69 of the Banks Act which provides for the placement of
a bank in financial difficulties under curatorship and the powers of the curator
appointed by the Registrar of Banks under such a set of circumstances. The Banks
Amendment Act is designed to facilitate the resolution of banks in distress (before the
implementation of the new resolution regime to be provided for in the Financial Sector
Laws Amendment Bill) in line with new international standards. The Banks
Amendment Act, as well as the anticipated Financial Sector Laws Amendment Bill
(when it takes effect), (will) address the uncertainty in the market and provide clarity to
banks and investors alike as to the manner in which banks will be treated in the event

of a bank resolution.

Political, social and economic risks in South Africa or regionally may have an adverse

effect on the Issuer’s operations

The Issuer's operations are concentrated in South Africa with the majority of its
revenues deriving from operations in South Africa. Operations in this market are
subject to various risks which need to be assessed in comparison to jurisdictions
elsewhere. These include political, social and economic risks specific to South Africa,
such as general economic volatility, recession, inflationary pressure, exchange rate

risks and exchange controls, which could affect an investment in the Notes. The
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existence of such factors may have an impact on South Africa and the results of the

Issuer in ways that cannot be predicted.

Cyber-crime could have a negative impact on the Issuer’s operations

The Issuer’s operations are dependent on its own information technology systems and
those of its third party service providers. The Issuer could be negatively impacted by
cyber-attacks on any of these. As the Issuer moves banking to the digital and mobile
world, the risk of cyber-crime increases, especially as infiltrating technology is
becoming increasingly sophisticated, and there can be no assurance that the Issuer

will be able to prevent all threats.

The Group may suffer losses as a result of fraudulent activity

Similar to other financial institutions, the Issuer is susceptible to losses as a result of
fraudulent activity. The main contributor of fraudulent loss to the Issuer’s business is
card fraud. The Issuer has implemented a number of strategies aimed at reducing the
ability of persons to utilise counterfeit cards at the Issuer's ATMs, however there is no

assurance that such strategies will be effective in eliminating card fraud entirely.

Online banking fraud is the second highest contributor to losses as a result of
fraudulent activity driven by an increase in the level of online fraud attempts.
Fraudsters are using increasingly sophisticated social engineering techniques to
secure account numbers, personal identification numbers and passwords from

customers.

Other illegal activities such as market abuse, market manipulation, rogue trading and
increasing trends of syndicate fraud with potential staff involvement as a result of the
recent economic downturns are also factors which the Issuer considers could also

have a material adverse effect on the operations of the Issuer.

The Issuer may suffer a failure or interruption in or breach of its information technology

systems and its businesses are subject to its ability to quickly adapt to disruptions while

maintaining continuous business operations

Information technology (“IT”) risk encompasses both IT and IT change risk. The
Issuer's IT risk refers to the risk associated with the use, ownership, operation,
involvement, influence and adoption of IT within the Issuer. IT change risk refers to
the risk arising from changes, updates or alterations made to the IT infrastructure,

systems or applications of the Issuer that could affect service reliability and availability.
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The Issuer's main IT risks include the failure or interruption of critical systems,
cybercrime and the unauthorised access to systems each of which may result in the

inability of the Issuer to serve its customers’ needs in a timely manner.

The Issuer has a high dependency on its own IT systems and operations infrastructure
in addition to those of third party service providers to conduct its business. The Issuer
regards these systems as critical to improving productivity and ensuring the Group and

the Issuer remain competitive in the market.

Any failure, interruption or breach in security of these systems could result in failures
or interruptions in the Issuer’s risk management, general ledger, deposit servicing, loan
servicing, debt recovery, payment custody and/or other important systems. If the
Issuer’s information systems fail, even for a short period of time, it could be unable to
serve some or all customers’ needs on a timely basis which could result in a loss of
business. In addition, a temporary shutdown of the Issuer’s information systems could

result in costs that are required for information retrieval and verification.

The occurrence of any such failures or interruptions in the Issuer’'s IT systems,
operations infrastructure and those of third party service providers could cause a failure
in the continuity of the Issuer’s operations and services and consequently, could have
a materially adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, financial condition and/or results

of operations.

A downgrade in the Issuer’'s credit ratings or the credit rating of South Africa could

have an adverse effect on the Issuer’s access to liquidity sources and funding costs

The Issuer’s credit ratings affect the cost and other terms upon which the Issuer is able
to obtain funding. Rating agencies regularly evaluate the Issuer and their ratings of its
long-term debt are based on a number of factors, including capital adequacy levels,
quality of earnings, credit exposure, the risk management framework and funding
diversification. These parameters and their possible impact on the Issuer's credit
rating are monitored closely and incorporated into its liquidity risk management and

contingency planning considerations.

The Issuer’s credit ratings and credit outlook are subject to change at any time and the
Issuer’s credit ratings could be downgraded or the credit outlook changed as a result
of many factors, including the failure to successfully implement the Issuer’s strategies,
the general downgrading of the credit ratings of financial institutions in the South
African banking sector or a downgrade in the South African sovereign rating, which

could negatively impact the ratings of the Issuer due to the Issuer’s sizeable exposure

SECTION I-E



3.19.

EMEA 120997881

44

to government securities, effectively linking its creditworthiness to that of the national
government. A downgrade or potential downgrade of the South African sovereign
rating or a change in rating agency methodologies relating to systemic support
provided by the South African sovereign could also negatively affect the credit rating
of the Issuer. A downgrade of the Issuer’s credit ratings, or being placed on a negative
ratings watch, may increase its cost of borrowing, adversely affect its liquidity and
competitive position, limit its ability to raise capital, result in reputational damage and
could lead to a loss of clients which could have a material adverse impact on its

business, results, financial condition or prospects.

There can also be no assurance that the rating agencies will maintain the Issuer’s
current ratings or outlooks or those of South Africa. Ratings are not a recommendation
to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time
by the assigning rating organisation. Each rating should be evaluated independently

of any other rating.

In addition to any direct losses that the Issuer might incur, a default, or the perception
of increased risk of default on obligations, and any further downgrade in South Africa’s
credit rating would likely have a significant negative impact on the South African
banking sector generally and could have a material adverse impact on the Issuer's

business, results, financial condition, prospects or rating.

Inappropriate management and execution of the Issuer’s Controlling Company, ABSA

Group Limited (“AGL”"), separation from Barclays Bank PLC could result in an elevation

in conduct, operational and funding risks

Separation from Barclays Bank PLC (the “Separation”) is one of AGL’s most important
strategic deliverables. AGL intends to complete the majority of the activities relating
to the Separation by June 2020. As is common with large scale change initiatives, the
Separation is susceptible to a number of risks which may cause an impact on the wider
Group and may impact the Issuer’s ability to implement the Separation within the
agreed timeline and budget. This could in turn, have a material adverse impact on the
Group’s business results, financial conditions and prospects. See further “Description
of Absa Bank Limited — Background and History”.
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The Issuer may not be able to detect money laundering and other illegal or improper

activities fully or on a timely basis, which could expose it to additional liability and have

a material adverse effect on it

The Issuer is required to comply with applicable anti-money laundering, anti-terrorism
laws and other regulations in South Africa. These laws and regulations require the
Issuer, among other things, to adopt and enforce “know your customer” policies and
procedures and to report suspicious and large transactions to the applicable regulatory
authorities. While the Issuer has adopted policies and procedures aimed at detecting
and preventing the use of its banking network for money laundering activities by
terrorists and terrorist-related organisations and individuals generally, such policies
and procedures may not completely eliminate instances in which the Issuer may be
used by other parties to engage in money laundering or other illegal or improper
activities. To the extent the Issuer may fail to fully comply with applicable laws and
regulations, the relevant government agencies to which it reports have the power and
authority to impose fines and other penalties on the Issuer. In addition, the Issuer’s
business and reputation could suffer if customers use it for money laundering or illegal

or improper purposes.

The impact of any future change in law or requlation on the Issuer's business is

uncertain

The nature and impact of future changes in laws, regulations and regulatory policies
are not predictable and are beyond the Issuer’s control, and changes in such laws,
regulations and regulatory policies may have an adverse effect on the Issuer’s financial

condition and results of operations.

Legal Proceedings

The Group has been party to proceedings against it during the financial year ending

31 December 2017, including the following material cases:

Five plaintiffs, including Pinnacle Point Holdings Proprietary Limited, New Port Finance
Company and the trustees of the Winifred Trust allege that a local bank conducted
itself unlawfully and that Absa was privy to such conduct. The plaintiffs instituted
proceedings against Absa for damages in an amount of R1,387 million. Although
Pinnacle Point Holdings Property Limited’s claim has been withdrawn, claims of the
remaining four plaintiffs remain outstanding and will proceed to trial. The date of the

trial has not been set as at the date of this Prospectus.
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Absa Capital Investor Services was the trustee of the Ayanda Collective Investment
Scheme (the “Scheme”), in which Corporate Money Managers (“CMM”) managed a
portfolio of assets within the Scheme. The joint curators of the CMM group of
companies and the Altron Pension Fund (an investor in the Scheme) allege that the
defendants, which include Absa, caused them losses as a result of their alleged failure
to meet their obligations under the trust deed and alleged failure to comply with their
statutory obligations set out in the Collective Investment Scheme Act. The joint
curators of the CMM group of companies and the Altron Pension Fund are seeking

damages in an amount of R1,157 million

The Issuer is engaged in various legal, competition and regulatory matters. It is
involved in legal proceedings which arise in the ordinary course of business from time
to time, including (but not limited to) disputes in relation to contracts, securities, debt
collection, consumer credit, fraud, trusts, client assets, competition, data protection,
money laundering, employment, environmental and other statutory and common law

issues.

The Issuer is also subject to enquiries and examinations, requests for information,
audits, investigations and legal and other proceedings by regulators, governmental
and other public bodies in connection with (but not limited to) consumer protection
measures, compliance with legislation and regulation, wholesale trading activity and
other areas of banking and business activities in which the Issuer is or has been

engaged.

At the present time, the Issuer does not expect the ultimate resolution of any of these
other matters to have a material adverse effect on its financial position. However, in
light of the uncertainties involved in such matters and the matters specifically described
above, there can be no assurance that the outcome of a particular matter or matters
will not be material to the Issuer’s results of operations or cash flow for a particular
period, depending on, amongst other things, the amount of the loss resulting from the

matter(s) and the amount of income otherwise reported for the reporting period.

The Issuer does not disclose contingent liabilities associated with specific matters
where it cannot reasonably be estimated or where such disclosure could be prejudicial
to the outcome of the matter. The Issuer does, however, report its contingent liabilities
on an aggregated basis. Provision is made for all liabilities which are expected to

materialise.
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4, THE NOTES MAY NOT BE A SUITABLE INVESTMENT FOR ALL INVESTORS

Each potential investor in any Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light

of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

4.1. have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the
Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or
incorporated by reference in this Master Programme Memorandum, an Applicable

Product Supplement and/or the Applicable Pricing Supplement;

4.2. have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the
context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact

such an investment will have on its overall investment portfolio;

4.3. have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment

in the Notes;

4.4. understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any

relevant indices and financial markets; and

4.5. be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible
scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment

and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

The Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally
do not purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase
complex financial instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood,
measured and appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should
not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either
alone or with a financial and legal adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under
changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this

investment will have on the potential investor’s overall investment portfolio.
5. THERE IS NO ACTIVE TRADING MARKET FOR THE NOTES

The Notes issued under the Master Programme Memorandum will be new securities which
may not be widely distributed and for which there is currently no active trading market. While
application may be made for the Notes to be traded on the Euro MTF or on such other
Financial Exchange(s) as may be determined by the Issuer, there can be no assurance that
the Issuer will be able to maintain such listing or that a trading market will develop for the

Notes. If the Notes are traded after their initial issuance, they may trade at a discount or
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premium to their initial offering price, depending upon prevailing interest rates, the market for

similar securities, general political and economic conditions, the condition of the financial

sector, the financial condition of the Issuer, the Issuer’s financial performance and future

prospects.

A WIDE RANGE OF NOTES MAY BE ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME

A number of these Notes may have features which contain particular risks for potential

investors. Set out below is a description of the most common such features.

6.1.

6.2.
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The Notes may be redeemed prior to maturity

6.1.1.

6.1.2.

In the event that the Issuer is obliged to increase the amounts payable in
respect of any Notes due to any withholding or deduction for or on account of
any taxes, the Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes in accordance with the

Terms and Conditions.

In addition, if the Terms and Conditions provide that Notes are in certain
circumstances redeemable prior to the Maturity Date, the Notes may be
redeemed at times when prevailing interest rates may be relatively low. In such
circumstances, an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption
proceeds in a comparable security at an effective interest rate as high as that

of the relevant Notes.

Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

6.2.1.

6.2.2.

An optional redemption feature of Notes is likely to limit their market value.
During any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market
value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at
which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption

period.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is
lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally
would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest
rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be
able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider

reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.
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Index Linked Notes and Dual Currency Notes

6.3.1.

6.3.2.

The Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest determined by reference
to an index or formula, to changes in the prices of securities or commodities, to
movements in currency exchange rates or other factors (each, a “Relevant
Factor”). In addition, the Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest
payable in one or more currencies which may be different from the currency in

which the Notes are denominated. Potential investors should be aware that:

6.3.1.1. the market price of such Notes may be volatile;
6.3.1.2. they may receive no interest;
6.3.1.3. payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or

in a different currency than expected;
6.3.1.4. they may lose all or a substantial portion of their principal,

6.3.1.5. a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that
may not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other

indices;

6.3.1.6. if a Relevant Factor is applied to Notes in conjunction with a
multiplier greater than one or contains some other leverage factor, the
effect of changes in the Relevant Factor on principal or interest payable

likely will be magnified; and

6.3.1.7. the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual
yield to investors, even if the average level is consistent with their
expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the Relevant Factor,

the greater the effect on yield.

The historical experience of an index should not be viewed as an indication of
the future performance of such index during the term of any Index Linked
Notes. Accordingly, each potential investor should consult its own financial and
legal advisers about the risk entailed by an investment in any Index Linked

Notes and the suitability of such Notes in light of its particular circumstances.
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Partly paid Notes

The Issuer may issue Notes, subject to the Applicable Laws, where the issue price is
payable in more than one instalment. Failure to pay any subsequent instalment could

result in an investor losing all of its investment.

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium from their
principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates
than do prices for conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the
remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to

conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

Integral multiples of less than EUR 100,000

In relation to any issue of Notes which have a denomination consisting of a minimum
Specified Denomination of EUR100,000 (or its equivalent in another currency) plus
higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that the Notes may
be traded in amounts in excess of EUR100,000 (or its equivalent in another currency)
that are not integral multiples of EUR100,000 (or its equivalent in another currency). In
such a case a Noteholder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds a principal
amount of less than such minimum authorised denomination of EUR100,000 will not
receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be printed)
and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that it holds an amount

equal to one or more authorised denominations.

7. RISKS RELATED TO NOTES GENERALLY

7.1.

7.2.
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Modification, waivers and substitution

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to
consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined
majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at

the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

Change of law

No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change
to the law of England and Wales or the law of any other jurisdiction or administrative

practice after the issuance of the Notes.
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Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and
regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor
should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (i) Notes are
legal investments for it, (i) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of
borrowing and (iii) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes.
Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators
to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based

capital or similar rules.

Foreign Exchange Control

Foreign derived loan capital or equity capital may be introduced into South Africa
through a formal system of Exchange Control as summarised in Section VII of this
Master Programme Memorandum headed “South African Exchange Control’.
However, unless the prior approval of the South African Reserve Bank has been
obtained, the proceeds from the sale of assets in South Africa owned by a non-resident

are not remittable to the non-resident.

Risks associated with the reform of LIBOR, EURIBOR and other interest rate

‘benchmarks’

The EURIBOR®, the LIBOR® and other interest rate indices which are deemed to be
‘benchmarks’ are the subject of recent national, international and other regulatory
guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst
others are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause such ‘benchmarks’ to
perform differently than in the past, or to disappear entirely, or have other
consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a

material adverse effect on any Notes linked to such a ‘benchmark’.

On 17 May 2016, the Council of the European Union adopted the EU regulation on
indices used as benchmarks in financial instruments and financial contracts or to
measure the performance of investment funds (the “Benchmark Regulation”). The
Benchmark Regulation entered into force on 30 June 2016. Subject to various
transitional provisions, the Benchmark Regulation applies from 1 January 2018, except
that the regime for ‘critical’ benchmarks applies from 30 June 2016. The Benchmark
Regulation will apply to ‘contributors’, ‘administrators’ and ‘users’ of ‘benchmarks’ in
the EU, and will, among other things, (i) require benchmark administrators to be

authorised (or, if non-EU-based, to have satisfied certain ‘equivalence’ conditions in its
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local jurisdiction, to be ‘recognised’ by the authorities of a Member State pending an
equivalence decision or to be ‘endorsed’ for such purpose by an EU competent
authority) and to comply with requirements in relation to the administration of
‘benchmarks’ and (ii) ban the use of ‘benchmarks’ of unauthorised administrators. The
scope of the Benchmark Regulation is wide and, in addition to so-called ‘critical
benchmark’ indices such as EURIBOR® and LIBOR®, will apply to many other interest

rate indices.

The Benchmark Regulation could have a material impact on Notes linked to a

‘benchmark’ rate or index, including in any of the following circumstances:

7.5.1. a rate or index which is a ‘benchmark’ could not be used as such if its
administrator does not obtain authorisation or is based in a non-EU jurisdiction
which (subject to applicable transitional provisions) does not satisfy the
‘equivalence’ conditions, is not ‘recognised’ pending such a decision and is not
‘endorsed’ for such purpose. In such event, depending on the particular
‘benchmark’ and the applicable terms of the Notes, the Notes could be

de-listed, adjusted, redeemed prior to maturity or otherwise impacted; and

7.5.2. the methodology or other terms of the ‘benchmark’ could be changed in order
to comply with the terms of the Benchmark Regulation, and such changes could
have the effect of reducing or increasing the rate or level or affecting the
volatility of the published rate or level, and could lead to adjustments to the
terms of the Notes, including Calculation Agent determination of the rate or

level in its discretion.

Any of the international, national or other proposals for reform or the general increased
regulatory scrutiny of ‘benchmarks’ could increase the costs and risks of administering
or otherwise participating in the setting of a ‘benchmark’ and complying with any such
regulations or requirements. Such factors may have the effect of discouraging market
participants from continuing to administer or contribute to certain ‘benchmarks’, trigger
changes in the rules or methodologies used in certain ‘benchmarks’ or lead to the
disappearance of certain ‘benchmarks’. The disappearance of a ‘benchmark’ or
changes in the manner of administration of a ‘benchmark’ could result in adjustment to
the terms and conditions, early redemption, discretionary valuation by the Calculation
Agent, delisting or other consequence in relation to Notes linked to such ‘benchmark’.
Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return

on any such Notes.
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Financial Transaction Tax

On 14 February 2013 the European Commission published a proposal (the
“Commission’s Proposal’) for a Directive for a common financial transaction tax
(“FTT”) to be adopted in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy,
Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the “Participating Member States”).
However, Estonia has since stated it will not participate. The proposed FTT has very
broad scope and could, if introduced in its current form, apply to certain dealings in the

Notes (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances.

Under the Commission’s Proposal the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to
persons both within and outside of the Participating Member States. Generally, it would
apply to certain dealings in the Notes where at least one party is a financial institution,
and at least one party is established in a Participating Member State. A financial
institution may be, or be deemed to be, “established” in a participating member State
in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person
established in a Participating Member State or (b) where the financial instrument which

is subject to the dealings is issued in a Participating Member State.

However, the FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between the participating
Member States. It may therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of
which remains uncertain. Additional Member States may also decide to participate

and/or participating Member States may decide to withdraw.

Prospective Noteholders are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation

to the FTT and its potential impact on the Notes before investing.

Certain U.S. Tax Considerations

7.7.1. U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Withholding

With respect to Notes issued after the date that is six months after the date on
which final U.S. Treasury regulations defining the term “foreign passthru
payment” are filed with the U.S. Federal Register (such applicable dates the
‘Foreign Passthru Payment Grandfathering Date”) (and any Notes which
are treated as equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes, whenever issued),
the Issuer may, under certain circumstances, be required pursuant to Sections
1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended,
and the regulations promulgated thereunder (“FATCA”) to withhold U.S. tax at

a rate of 30% on all or a portion of payments of principal and interest which are
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treated as “foreign pass-thru payments” made on or after the date that is two
years after the date final U.S. Treasury regulations defining the term “foreign
pass-thru payments” are published to an investor or any other non-U.S.
financial institution (an “FFI”) through which payment on the Notes is made that
is not in compliance with FATCA. As of the date of this Programme
Memorandum, final U.S. Treasury regulations defining the term “foreign
passthru payments” have not been filed with the U.S. Federal Register. In
addition, with respect to certain equity-linked index Notes, if any, issued on or
after 1 July 2017 or, in certain cases, issued on or after 1 July 2021 (as
applicable, the “DEP Grandfathering Date” and together with the Foreign
Passthru Payment Grandfathering Date, the “Grandfathering Date”), the
Issuer may, under certain circumstances, be required pursuant to FATCA to
withhold U.S. tax at a rate of 30% on all or a portion of payments which are

treated as “dividend equivalent” payments (as defined below).

Investors should consult their own advisors about the application of FATCA, in
particular if they may be classified as financial institutions under the FATCA
rules. If an amount in respect of withholding tax were to be deducted or withheld
from interest, principal or other payments on the Notes as a result of an
investor’s failure to comply with FATCA, none of the Issuer, any Paying Agent
or any other person would, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Notes,
be required to pay additional amounts as a result of the deduction or

withholding of such tax.

Payments under index linked Notes may be subject to U.S. withholding tax

A 30% withholding tax (which may be reduced by an applicable income tax
treaty) is imposed on certain “dividend equivalent” payments made to a
non-U.S. person with respect to (i) a “specified notional principal contract” that
(directly or indirectly) is contingent upon, or determined by reference to, the
payment of a dividend from sources within the United States, (ii) a “specified
equity-linked instrument” that references one or more dividend-paying U.S.
equity securities, (iii) a securities lending or sale-repurchase transaction that
references a dividend from sources within the United States, and (iv) any other
payment determined by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service to be substantially
similar to a payment described in the preceding clause (i), (ii) or (iii) (‘DEP
Withholding”). U.S. Treasury regulations provide that DEP Withholding can

apply even if the instrument does not provide for payments that reference
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dividends. DEP Withholding with respect to a “specified equity-linked
instrument” applies to dividend equivalent payments made on or after 1
January 2017 on a “specified equity-linked instrument” that has a delta of one
issued on or after 1 January 2017. DEP Withholding with respect to a “specified
equity-linked instrument” applies to dividend equivalent payments made on or
after 1 January 2021 with respect to any “specified equity-linked instrument”,

whether or not it has a delta of one, issued on or after 1 January 2021.

If applicable, DEP Withholding will be addressed in the applicable Pricing
Supplement. If an amount in respect of U.S. withholding tax were to be
deducted or withheld from payments on an index linked Note, none of the
Issuer, any Paying Agent or any other person would, pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the Notes, be required to pay additional amounts as a result of

the deduction or withholding of such tax.

8. FINANCIAL MARKETS

8.1.

8.2.

8.3.

EMEA 120997881

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never
develop. If a market does develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may
not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield
comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is
particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or
market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been
structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors.
These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and more
price volatility than conventional debt securities. llliquidity may have a severely

adverse effect on the market value of Notes.

A prospective investor of the Notes should be aware of the prevailing and widely
reported global credit market conditions (which continue at the date hereof), whereby
there is a general lack of liquidity in the secondary markets for instruments similar to
the Notes. Such lack of liquidity may result in investors suffering losses on the Notes
in secondary resales even if there is no decline in the performance of the assets of the
Issuer. The Issuer cannot predict if and when these circumstances will change, and if
and when they do, whether conditions of general market illiquidity for the Notes and

instruments similar to the Notes will return in future.

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Issuance Currency. This

presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial
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activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the “Investor’s
Currency”) other than the Issuance Currency. These include the risk that exchange
rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Issuance
Currency or revaluation of the Investor’'s Currency). An appreciation in the value of
the Investor's Currency relative to the Issuance Currency would decrease (i) the
Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (ii) the Investor's Currency
equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (iii) the Investor’s Currency

equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past)
exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As aresult,
investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or

principal.

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market

interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes.
The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market,
additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the
Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may
be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time. Any adverse change in the
applicable credit rating could adversely affect the trading price for the Notes issued

under the Programme.

9. RISKS RELATING TO SOUTH AFRICA

9.1.

9.2.

EMEA 120997881

South Africa is generally considered by international investors to be an emerging
market. Investors in emerging markets such as South Africa should be aware that
these markets are subject to greater risk than more developed markets. These risks
include economic instability as well as, in some cases, significant legal and political

risks.

Economic instability in South Africa in the past and in other emerging market countries

has been caused by many different factors, including the following:
9.2.1. high interest rates
9.2.2. changes in currency values;

9.2.3. high levels of inflation;
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9.2.4. exchange controls;
9.2.5. wage and price controls;
9.2.6. changes in economic or tax policies;
9.2.7. the imposition of trade barriers; and
9.2.8. internal security issues.

Any of these factors, as well as volatility in the markets for securities similar to the

Notes, may adversely affect the value or liquidity of the Notes.

Accordingly, investors should exercise particular care in evaluating the risks involved
and must decide for themselves whether, in light of those risks, their investment is
appropriate. Generally, investment in developing markets is only suitable for
sophisticated investors who fully appreciate the significance of the risks involved, and
prospective investors are urged to consult with their own legal and financial advisers

before making an investment in the Notes.

Investors should also note that developing markets, such as South Africa, are subject
to rapid change and that the information set out in this Master Programme

Memorandum may become outdated relatively quickly.

The Issuer is subject to government regulation in South Africa. Regulatory agencies
have broad jurisdiction over many aspects of the Issuer’s business, which may include
capital adequacy, premium rates, marketing and selling practices, advertising,

licensing agents, policy forms, terms of business and permitted investments.

Changes in government policy, legislation or regulatory interpretation applying to the
financial services industry in the markets in which the Issuer operates may adversely
affect the Issuer’s product range, distribution channels, capital requirements and,

consequently, reported results and financing requirements.

10. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST INVOLVING ABSA BANK LIMITED

Absa Bank Limited is acting in a number of capacities in connection with the Notes described

herein. Absa Bank Limited acting in such capacities will have only the duties and

responsibilities expressly agreed to by such entity in the relevant capacity and will not, by

reason of it acting in any other capacity, be deemed to have other duties or responsibilities or

be deemed to be held to a standard of care other than as expressly provided with respect to

each such capacity.
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In no event shall Absa Bank Limited be deemed to have any fiduciary obligations to any person
by reason of it acting in any capacity. Absa Bank Limited may purchase, hold and sell the

Notes from time to time.

Absa Bank Limited currently acts as Issuer, Arranger, Dealer and Calculation Agent. Absa

Bank Limited may:
10.1. deal in any Reference Obligation or other securities of any Reference Entity;

10.2. advise or distribute securities on behalf of a Reference Entity, arrange or manage
transactions on behalf of a Reference Entity or provide banking services to a

Reference Entity;

10.3. enter into other credit derivatives involving reference entities that may include the

Reference Entities; and

10.4. accept deposits from, make loans or otherwise extend credit to, and generally engage
in any kind of commercial or investment banking or other business with, any Reference

Entity or any other person or
other entity having obligations relating to any Reference Entity.

Absa Bank Limited will not be obliged to take any action to minimise losses or maximise
recoveries in respect of Reference Obligations. Absa Bank Limited may, whether as a result
of relationships described above or otherwise, be in possession of information in relation to
any Reference Entity or Reference Obligation or the Notes and that may or may not be publicly

available. It may have no obligation to disclose such information.
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SECTION lIl: TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to be issued by the Issuer which will be
incorporated by reference into each Note. A Tranche of Notes will be issued on, and subject to, the
below Terms and Conditions, as replaced, amended and/or supplemented by the terms and
conditions of that Tranche of Notes set out in an Applicable Product Supplement and/or the Applicable

Pricing Supplemen